UNI TED STATES, Appell ee
V.
Kendal | L. SIM5, Staff Sergeant
U S. Arny, Appellant
No. 01-0765

Crim App. No. 9900641

United States Court of Appeals for the Arnmed Forces
Argued February 26, 2002
Deci ded Septenber 30, 2002
G ERKE, J., delivered the opinion of the Court, in which
EFFRON and BAKER, JJ., joined. SULLIVAN, S.J., filed
an opinion concurring in the result. CRAWORD, C. J.,
filed a dissenting opinion.
Counsel
For Appellant: Captain Sean S. Park (argued); Colonel Adele H

(degard, Lieutenant Colonel E. Allen Chandler, Jr., and Major
| rogene M Jam son (on brief).

For Appellee: Captain Susana E. Watkins (argued); Col onel Steven

T. Salata and Major Paul T. Cygnarowi cz (on brief).

Mlitary Judge: Keith H Hodges

This opinion is subject to editorial correction before final publication.




United States v. Sins, No. 01-0765/ AR

Judge G ERKE delivered the opinion of the Court.

A mlitary judge sitting as a general court-marti al
convi cted appel lant, pursuant to his pleas, of naking a fal se
of ficial statenent, sodony, and conmtting an i ndecent act, in
violation of Articles 107, 125, and 134, Uniform Code of Mlitary
Justice, 10 USC 88 907, 925, and 934, respectively. The adjudged
and approved sentence provides for a bad-conduct discharge,
confinement for 30 days, total forfeitures, and reduction to the
| onest enlisted grade. The Court of Crim nal Appeals affirnmed
t he findings and sentence w t hout opinion.

This Court granted review of the foll ow ng issue:

VWHETHER THE ARMY COURT OF CRI M NAL APPEALS ERRED | N

AFFI RM NG APPELLANT’ S CONVI CTI ON OF | NDECENT ACTS (1) WHEN

APPELLANT, W TH CONSENT, MOVENTARI LY TOUCHED THE BREASTS OF

A FEMALE WHO MERELY LI FTED HER SH RT W THOUT REMOVI NG | T AND

(2) WHEN THE CONSENSUAL ACT OCCURRED I N THE PRI VACY OF

APPELLANT" S OWN ROOM W TH NO THI RD PARTY PRESENT AND W TH

THE DOOR CLOSED
For the reasons set out below, we hold that appellant’s guilty
plea to commtting an i ndecent act was inprovident.

Facts

The of fenses arose when appellant hosted a party in his
guarters in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. The offenses of which he was
found guilty were consensual sodony (fellatio) with a young
femal e soldier, Private First Cass (PFC) AB, who attended the
party; indecent acts by touching PFC AB' s bared breasts; and
fal sely denying that he had taken a female into his bedroom
during the party.

The parties stipulated to the facts underlying the pleas of

guilty. The stipulated facts offered to support the plea of

guilty to conmtting an i ndecent act are as foll ows:
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At approxi mately 2400 the accused approached PFC [ AB]
and asked her back to his bedroom Both went to the
bedroom acconpani ed by three other soldiers. Once back
in his bedroom the accused, PFC [ AB], and the other
three party attendees engaged in conversati onal

pl easantries. Wthin mnutes, PFC [AB] was |eft al one
with the accused in his bedroomafter the other three
party attendees departed the bedroom

As soon as PFC [ AB] was |left alone with the
accused, he asked her if she would show hi m one her
breasts [sic]. PFC [AB] denied this request. The
accused then asked if he could show them wi t hout the
top [sic]. She lifted her shirt, and the accused
stared at the breasts and began to lustfully fondle
them wi th both hands

The accused admits that his actions with PFC [ AB]
wer e, under the circunstances, indecent. The accused
realizes that his conduct was to the prejudice of good
order and discipline and service discrediting because
it was irresponsible for a newy pronoted Staff
Sergeant to conduct hinself in such a manner with a
junior enlisted soldier who had been drinking al cohol
supplied by the accused. The accused was al so aware
that she was probably violating a | ocal order barring
depl oyed soldiers from being alone in the sleeping
quarters of soldiers of the opposite sex. Moreover, he
knew, or at |east believed, that there was a
substantial risk that his activity could be discovered
at any given tinme if soneone had wal ked in on them

During the plea inquiry, appellant told the mlitary judge
that there were about 40 people at his pronotion party. There
was nusi c and dancing in one roomand food in another room next
to appellant’s bedroom Appellant did not share his bedroomwth
anyone el se.

Appel I ant kept a supply of hard liquor in his bedroom
because “there were a | ot of people at the party and [he] didn't
want to run out of liquor.” He had also told the wonen present
at the party that they could | eave their purses and personal
items in his bedroom

Appel lant invited three nale soldiers and AB into his

bedroom for “a private party” separate fromthe main party. They



United States v. Sins, No. 01-0765/ AR

stayed for five to ten m nutes and each had two or three shots of

hard liquor. A video showing fermale nudity was playing on a

television in appellant’s bedroom but he did not know who put it

in the video player.

The three nal e sol diers departed, |eaving appellant al one

with AB.

Appel I ant and AB wat ched the video, tal ked, and had

anot her drink. The door was closed but not |ocked. During the

time that appellant and AB were alone in the bedroom no one

knocked on the door or cane into the room At this point in the

plea inquiry, the mlitary judge expl ai ned the requirenent for

“open and notorious” conduct as follows:

Consensual sexual conduct ordinarily -- and in your
case would ordinarily be -- not a crimnal offense if
done in private. However, it can constitute an

i ndecent act if done in public. And “public” includes
that there is a substantial risk that your conduct --
your activities could be viewed by another or it’s
reasonabl y |ikely that your conduct could be viewed by
anot her. [

Wen the mlitary judge asked, “Wre people com ng and goi ng

t hroughout the evening?,” appellant responded, “Only the people |

let into ny room” However, he also told the mlitary judge that

“[i1]t wouldn’t be any probleni for one of the wonmen to retrieve

her purse wi thout asking perm ssion. Appellant admtted that

there was nothing to prevent someone fromcomng into the room

and observing his conduct.

! The military judge’s explanation clearly shows that this case
is not about victins’ rights, as the dissent suggests. Appellant
pl eaded guilty to a consensual act. The alleged unl awful ness of
the act was based on its public nature, not the co-actor’s | ack
of consent.
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Appel lant told the mlitary judge that he asked AB if he
coul d touch her breasts. AB Ilifted up her shirt, and appell ant
t ouched her breasts.

Di scussi on

RCM 910(e), Manual for Courts-Martial, United States (2000
ed.),EI provides: “The mlitary judge shall not accept a plea of
guilty w thout making such inquiry of the accused as shal
satisfy the mlitary judge that there is a factual basis for the
plea.” In order to establish an adequate factual predicate for a
guilty plea, the mlitary judge nust elicit “factua
ci rcunst ances as reveal ed by the accused hinself [that]

obj ectively support that plea[.]” United States v. Davenport, 9

M) 364, 367 (CVA 1980). It is not enough to elicit |egal
conclusions. The mlitary judge nust elicit facts to support the

plea of guilty. United State v. Quthier, 45 M} 326, 331 (1996).

Appel I ant contends that his guilty plea was inprovident
because his act was not perfornmed in an “open and notori ous
manner.” The Governnent contends that appellant’s act was
commtted “openly and notoriously” because it was reasonably
likely that others would see it, even though no one actually saw
it.

““Indecent’ signifies that formof inmmorality relating to
sexual inmpurity which is not only grossly vul gar, obscene, and
repugnant to common propriety, but tends to excite lust and

deprave the norals with respect to sexual relations.” Para. 90c,

2 All Manual provisions cited are identical to those in effect at
the tine of appellant’s court-nmartial.
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Part 1V, Manual, supra. An otherw se |lawful sexual act may

violate Article 134, supra, if it is conmtted “openly and

notoriously.” United States v. Berry, 6 USCVA 609, 614, 20 CWMR

325, 330 (1956). An act is “open and notorious . . . when the

partici pants know that a third person is present.” Id.

In United States v. |zquierdo, 51 M 421, 423 (1999),

deci ded after appellant’s court-martial, this Court held that the
evi dence was legally sufficient to support a conviction of
commtting an indecent act, where the accused had sexual
intercourse with a woman in his barracks roomwhile his two
roommates were in the room even though he bl ocked their view by
hangi ng up a sheet “that substantially bl ocked his roomrates’
view of his side of the room” |In the same case, however, we
hel d that the evidence was legally insufficient to prove an
i ndecent act where the accused had sexual intercourse in a shared
barracks room wth the door closed but unlocked and no one el se
present in the room

| zqui erdo was a contested case, but it is instructive and
cl osely anal ogous to this case. |In lzquierdo, this Court tacitly
approved the mlitary judge's instruction that sexual acts are
open and notorious when commtted “in such a place and under such
circunstances that it is reasonably |likely to be seen by others
even though others actually do not viewthe acts.” 1d.; see

United States v. Carr, 28 Ml 661, 664 (NMCVR 1989). |zquierdo

clarified the Berry definition (“when the participants know t hat

a third person is present”) by holding that it was not necessary
to prove that a third person actually observed the act, but only

that it was reasonably likely that a third person woul d observe
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it. However, we concluded that, even when viewed in the |ight
nost favorable to the prosecution, the evidence was legally
insufficient to prove that the sexual act, commtted in a shared
barracks roomwi th no third party present and with the door

cl osed but unl ocked, was open and notori ous.

In this case, the sexual touching was comritted in a private
bedroom w th the door closed but unlocked. This is a close
case, because as in |lzquierdo, there was a possibility that
sonmeone, in this case fromthe ongoing party, would enter through
t he cl osed but unl ocked door and observe the sexual activity.
However, this case is weaker than |lzquierdo in two respects: (1)
appellant was in his private bedroom which gave hima greater
expectation of privacy than a shared barracks room and (2)
neither party had disrobed. The act in question could have been
term nated easily and quickly. Had anyone knocked, called out,
or in any way signaled their entry into the room AB could have
qui ckly pulled her shirt down and covered herself.

We have noted appellant’s stipulation that “there was a
substantial risk that his activity could be discovered[.]” 1In
our view, appellant’s conclusory stipulation, wthout any
additional facts to distinguish this case fromlzquierdo, is
i nadequate to establish a factual predicate for “open and

not ori ous” sexual conduct. See Quthier, supra. Accordingly,

there is a substantial basis for rejecting the plea as

i mprovi dent, because appellant’s responses and the stipul ati on of
fact state only the conclusion that it was reasonably |ikely
under these circunstances that appellant’s act of touching PFC AB

woul d have been seen by others, but they do not provide the
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factual basis for that conclusion.Bl United States v. Prater, 32

M) 433, 436 (CMA 1991).

W turn finally to the question of prejudice. Considering
the nature of the remaining findings of guilty and the sentence
adj udged at trial, we are satisfied that appellant was not
prejudi ced as to sentence, and “we perceive no reasonabl e
possibility of benefit to [appellant] by remand of the record

for reassessnent of the sentence.” See United States v.

Rushing, 11 MJ 95, 98 (CMA 1981).
Deci si on
The decision of the United States Army Court of Crim nal
Appeal s is reversed as to the finding of guilty of Specification
2 of Charge V. The finding of guilty of Specification 2 of
Charge V is set aside, and that specification is dismssed. In

all other respects, the decision is affirned.

® Qur decision does not establish a per se rule, as asserted by
the dissent. W have applied well-established | aw providi ng that
ot herwi se | awful sexual conduct is indecent if commtted in
public, and we have held, on a case-specific basis, that the
factual predicate elicited fromappellant in this case was

i nadequate to establish that his conduct was “public.”
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SULLI VAN, Seni or Judge (concurring in the result):

| agree with the result reached by the majority in this case,
but not its rationale. The alleged indecent act of consensually
fondling an adult fenale’s (AB s) breasts was done behind the
cl osed door of appellant’s barracks room and no third person was
actually present. Under our case |law at the tine of appellant’s
trial, a consensual sexual act of this type by a servicenenber in
t hese circunstances did not constitute the crinme of indecent acts

because it was not “open and notorious.” See United States v.

Berry, 6 USCVA 609, 614 20 CVR 325, 330 (1956) (known presence of
athird party required for otherw se |lawful sexual intercourse to
be considered an indecent act). The mlitary judge obviously
ignored Berry and erred by applying a “reasonably likely to be
viewed by another” standard in determ ning appellant’s guilt.
(R 425-28) Accordingly, the indecent act conviction here needs
to be reversed.

| also do not agree with the majority now adopting a broader

rule of crimnal liability than approved in Berry based on dicta

in United States v. |zquierdo, 51 Ml 421, 423 (1999) (a case

deci ded after appellant’s trial), and applying it in appellant’s
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case.t The majority would hold that consensual sexual acts by a
servi cenenber can be considered “open and notorious” (and, thus,
crimnal) when commtted “in such a place and under such
circunstances that it is reasonably likely to be seen by others
even though others actually do not viewthe acts.” __ M at (6).
Mor eover, in applying the new standard, the majority weakly
reasons that the facts of appellant’s case do not satisfy this
new test because “[t]he act in question [touching a female’s bare
breasts] could have been term nated easily and quickly .

AB coul d have quickly pulled her shirt down and covered [ her
exposed breasts].” __ M at (7). | have serious concerns wth
this vague and uncertain approach to crimnal law in the

consensual sex area. See Rogers v. Tennessee, 532 U S. 451

(2001) (due process limtation on application of a judicial
construction of a crimnal statute). A crine in the area of
consensual sex between adults needs to be clear and certain.
Finally, | disagree with this newrule of the magjority, which
is apparently derived fromthe decision of the Navy-Marine Corps

Court of Mlitary Reviewin United States v. Carr, 28 M} 661, 664

(NMCMR 1989). See United States v. |zquierdo, supra at 423-24

(Sullivan, J., concurring in the result).

" The majority opinion in Izquierdo reversed one of two convictions for

i ndecent acts because it concerned sexual acts which occurred between a

servi cemenber and anot her when “the door was cl osed and nobody el se was in the
room” This is the same standard used in United States v. Berry, 6 USCVA 609,
614, 20 CVMR 325, 330 (1956). See United States v. Tollinchi, 54 M} 80, 83
(2000)
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CRAWFORD, Chi ef Judge (dissenting):

This is a case of a non-conm ssioned officer plying a
19-year-old with al cohol and then taking sexual advantage
of her by indecently “fondl[ing]” her breasts “with both
hands,” asking her to masturbate, and persuading her to
commt fellatio on him Al though the granted issue
concerns only the indecent act specification, when viewed
in context with the other sexual activity behind closed
doors, | am not persuaded that appellant’s fondling the
victims breasts involved an activity that “could have been
termnated easily and quickly.” _ M at (7).

The majority opinion effectively establishes a per se
rule that if a sexual act takes place behind a cl osed door
wi t hout intrusion, the act cannot be “indecent” as a matter
of law. Having considered it, along with other cases

i nvol vi ng sexual offenses, see, e.g., United States v.

Baker, No. 01-0064, = M __ (2002); United States v.

Ayers, 54 M) 85, 95, 99 (2000)(Crawford, C. J., concurring
in part and dissenting in part; Sullivan, J., dissenting);

United States v. Tollinchi, 54 MJ 80, 83 (2000)(Sullivan,

J., concurring in part and dissenting in part; Crawford,

C.J., dissenting); United States v. Mrrison, 52 M 117,

124 (1999)(Sullivan, J., joined by Crawford, J.,

di ssenting); United States v. Hoggard, 43 MJ 1, 4, 8
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(1995)(Crawford, J., dissenting in part and concurring in
the result in part; Sullivan, C J., dissenting); United

States v. Cage, 42 M) 139, 145, 147 (1995)(Sullivan, C. J.,

and Crawford, J., dissenting), | must once again express ny
concern with the inpact of the majority opinion on
prevailing jurisprudence, the rights of victins, and the
public perception of mlitary justice.

Appel I ant pl eaded guilty. Because appellant’s plea is
provi dent under our prior case |aw, RCM 910, Manual for

Courts-Martial, United States (2000 ed.), and United States

v. Vonn, _ U.S __, 122 S.C. 1043, 1052-53 (2002),
| respectfully dissent.

In order to affirma conviction of commtting an
i ndecent act, there nust be a finding:

(1) That the accused commtted a certain w ongful
act with a certain person;

(2) That the act was indecent; and

(3) That, under the circunstances, the conduct of
the accused was to the prejudice of good order
and discipline in the arned forces or was of a
nature to bring discredit upon the armed forces.

Para. 90b, Manual, supra.

‘I ndecent” signifies that form of imorality
relating to sexual inpurity which is not only
grossly vulgar, obscene, and repugnant to common
propriety, but tends to excite |lust and deprave
the norals with respect to sexual relations.

Para. 90c.
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Appel I ant argues that his guilty plea to conmtting an
i ndecent act was inprovident because the act itself was not
“open and notorious.” RCM 910(e) states that “[t]he
mlitary judge shall not accept a plea of guilty wthout
maki ng such inquiry of the accused as shall satisfy the
mlitary judge that there is a factual basis for the
plea[.]” As the majority states, “[i]n order to establish
an adequate factual predicate for a guilty plea, the
mlitary judge must elicit ‘factual circunmstances as
reveal ed by the accused hinself [that] objectively support

that plea.”” ___ M at (5), quoting United States v.

Davenport, 9 Ml 364, 367 (CVA 1980). The majority
continues, “It is not enough to elicit |egal concl usions.
The mlitary judge nust elicit facts to support the plea of

guilty.” 1d., citing United States v. Quthier, 45 M 326,

331 (1996).
As to the indecency of the act,

[t]he public nature of an act is not always
determ ned by the place of occurrence. A private
residence in which other persons are gathered may
be regarded as a public place for the purpose of
eval uating the character of conduct by one of the
per sons. This is particularly true when the act
is of such a nature as to bring discredit upon
the armed forces. United States v. Lowe, 4 USCVA
654, 16 CMR 228. An act, therefore, may be “open
and notorious” not nerely because of the |ocus,
but because of the actual presence of other
per sons. W doubt, for exanple, that any
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reasonabl e person would contend that an act of
fornication commtted in full and open view of
twenty persons gathered in a private honme is not
so aggravated in nature as to constitute an
of fense under the Uniform Code. How many persons
then need be present to make the act a public
one? In our opinion, the act is “open and
notorious,” flagrant, and discrediting to the
mlitary service when the participants know that
a third person is present.

United States v. Berry, 6 USCVA 609, 614, 20 CMR 325, 330

(1956). This definition was further restricted in United

States v. lzquierdo, 51 M} 421 (1999), when this Court held

t hat

[ s]exual acts are considered to be conmtted openly
and notoriously when such acts are perforned in
such a place and under such circunstances that it
is reasonably likely to be seen by others even

t hough others actually do not view the acts. In
determning if sexual acts are performed openly and
not ori ously, you nmust | ook not only to the |ocation
of the act itself, but also to the attendant

ci rcunst ances surroundi ng their conm ssion.

Id. at 423 (enphasis added).
Appel lant’ s stipulation of fact stated:

On the evening of 12 Novenber 1998, the
accused hosted a pronotion party for hinself at
his Villa on Eskan Village in R yadh, Saudi
Arabia. Approximtely 30-40 persons attended the
party to include both civilians and mlitary
personnel. The party attendees entertai ned
t hensel ves by mngling with one another, playing
cards, and dancing to |loud nusic. Many of those
in attendance were conbatants, and hence subj ect
to General Order Nunber 1 which prohibits the
consunption of al cohol by conbatant personnel.

In spite of his know edge of the conbatant-status
of many of those in attendance, SSG Sins provided
beer, and a vodka-punch mx to the partiers. For
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this, SSG[] Sins received a General Oficer
Menor andum of Reprimand for having served al cohol
to conbatants. The GOMOR has been filed in his
OWF. The accused's wi |l ful disobedience, |ack
of judgnment, and lack of integrity were
specifically cited by MG Marcell o as reasons for
i nposi ng the GOMOR.

: Prior to this party, PFC [AB] and SSG Sins
had not known or been acquainted with one
anot her.

: t he accused was taken to his room. :
While in the room the accused and several other
mal e sol diers began to watch a very provocative
vi deo about “Freak-Nik.” This is an annual event
held in Atlanta, Ceorgia, attended by mainly
young African-Anerican nmen and wonen. At

approxi mately 2400 the accused approached PFC

[ AB] and asked her back to his bedroom Both
went to the bedroom acconpani ed by three ot her
soldiers. Once back in his bedroom the accused,
PFC [ AB], and the other three party attendees
engaged in conversational pleasantries. Wthin
m nutes, PFC [AB] was |eft alone with the accused
in his bedroomafter the other three party

att endees departed the bedroom

As soon as PFC [ AB] was |eft alone with the
accused, he asked her if she would show hi m one
of her breasts. PFC [AB] denied this request.
The accused then asked if [she] could show t hem
wi thout the top. She lifted her shirt, and the
accused stared at the breasts and began to
[ustfully fondle themw th both hands.
Afterwards, the accused asked her if PFC [ AB]
woul d masturbate in front of him She denied the
request. The accused then asked PFC [AB] to
performfellatio on him she conplied. The
accused admts that placing his penis in her
mout h was an act of unnatural carnal copulation
as that is defined in Article 125, UCMI.

The accused admits that his actions with PFC
[ AB] were, under the circunstances, indecent.
The accused realizes that his conduct was to the
prej udi ce of good order and discipline and
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service discrediting because it was irresponsible
for a newly pronoted Staff Sergeant to conduct
himsel f in such a manner with a junior enlisted
sol di er who had been drinking al cohol supplied by
the accused. The accused was al so aware t hat

[ he] was probably violating a | ocal order barring
depl oyed sol diers from being alone in the

sl eeping quarters of soldiers of the opposite
sex. Moreover, he knew, or at |east believed,
that there was a substantial risk that his
activity could be discovered at any given tine if
soneone had wal ked in on them

(Enphasi s added.) The follow ng subsequently took pl ace
during appellant’s providence inquiry:

MI: Well, what purpose or reason woul d anybody,
if any, have to cone to your roomduring the
party that night?

ACC. Ah--Sone--Sone peopl e knew there was |i quor
back there--the people that | told and al so
sone people to get their personal effects--
some--sone of the wonen, |ike their purses.

Ml: Okay, were there--Do you know why we’'re
having such a large--a | ong conversation on
such a relatively sinply offense?

ACC. Negative, Your Honor.
MI: Would you like to know?
ACC. Yes, Your Honor.

Mi: Consensual sexual conduct ordinarily--and in
your case would ordinarily be--not a
crimnal offense if done in private.
However, it can constitute an indecent act
if done in public. And “public” includes
that there is a substantial risk that your
conduct--your activities could be viewed by
another or it’'s reasonably likely that your
conduct could be viewed by another. So |I'm
trying to figure out what is the indecent
nature of the conduct and the contact you
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ACC.

ACC:

ACC:

ACC.

ACC.

ACC.

ACC.

had with Private [AB] that would nmake this

i ndecent, that is, that would nmake it likely
or reasonably likely or a substantial risk
that you could be discovered. So that’s
what I'mtrying to find out. You re the guy
pl eadi ng guilty, not anybody el se.

Yes, Your Honor. | understand, Your Honor.

Did the wonen store their purses and ot her
personal effects in your roonf

Yes, Your Honor.

Was that to provide security for those
effects?

Yes. Because it was ny party they--they
only knew ne so they decided to put their
purses back in my room Yes, Your Honor.

kay. And did you |l eave the door to your
room unl ocked t hroughout the evening?

Yes, Your Honor.

Were people com ng and goi ng throughout the
eveni ng?

Only the people | let into ny room Yes,
Your Honor.

Well, if sonebody was in the party and they
wanted to | eave woul d they ask your

perm ssion before | eaving or would there be
any problemif they went to the room and got
their purse?

It wouldn’t be any problemfor themto get
their purse. No, sir.

Did you put the videotape in the TV?

No, sir. The video had been playing nost of
all of the night.

Who put the videotape in?
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ACC:

MJ:

ACC:

ACC.

ACC:

ACC.

ACC:

ACC.

MJ:

|--1 do not know who put the videotape in,
Your Honor.

That woul d indicate to ne that sonebody went
into your room w t hout your perm ssion and
wat ched your videotape. Wuld that be
correct or incorrect?

That woul d be correct, Your Honor.

And, at the tinme that you went into the room
with Private [AB], did you realize that
sonebody had been into your roomto use your
roomto watch the video?

Yes, Your Honor.

kay. Had peopl e been going back into the
back of your room by thensel ves, in other

words, not in your conmpany to go into the

roomto sneak a drink?

Later | found out. Yes, Your Honor.

Well, did you have reason to believe or did
you know prior to going to the back of the
roomwith Private [ AB] that sonme of the guys
had been back there or sone of the people
had been going into your roomto the private
stash of al cohol ?

Yes, Your Honor.
You knew that for a fact?

Yes, Your Honor, by one of the enpty
bottles. Yes, Your Honor.

And did you know that at the tinme that you
were in the roomwth Private [AB] that
peopl e had been goi ng back there and using
t he stash?

Yes, Your Honor.

No doubt about that?
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ACC. No doubt about that, Your Honor.

MI: At the tinme that you were in the room al one
with Private [ AB], what woul d keep one of
the | adies who had their purses back there
fromcomng into the roomor one of the
peopl e who knew about the private store of
al cohol fromcomng into the roomand seeing
what you were doi ng?

ACC:. Not hi ng, Your Honor.

MI: COkay. Wile in the room what occurred
bet ween you and Private [AB] with regard to
touchi ng her breasts?

ACC. In regards to that, Your Honor, we were
wat chi ng the video, having a drink and in
t he video sonme--sone of the females were
l[ifting up their shirts and acting wldly
and--and | asked her if | could touch her
breasts, Your Honor.

MI: Wiy’ d you do that?

ACC. It was in poor judgnent, Your Honor.

MI: Well, yeah, but | nmean were you--1’'m going
to be funny for a mnute but just to
illustrate why I’ m asking you the question.

Did you ask her to do that so you could
check her for a sunburn?

ACC. Negative, Your Honor.

MI: Wiy did you do it?

ACC. To--to touch her breasts, Your Honor.
Mi: For sexual gratification?

ACC:. Yes, Your Honor.

MI: Al right. And what did she say?

ACC. She lifted up her shirt, Your Honor.
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MJ:
ACC.

MJ:

ACC:

ACC:

ACC:

ACC.

ACC:

MJ:

ACC.

(Enphasi s

And what did you do?

| touched her breasts, Your Honor.

| f sonmebody had wal ked in the room at that

m nute, very carefully, would they have seen
her breasts?

Yes, Your Honor.

Whul d t hey have seen you touching her
breasts?

Yes, Your Honor.

What do you think about sonebody wal ki ng
into a roomand seei ng a nonconm ssi oned
officer with a young wonman in your
government provided quarters, in a forward
depl oyed Mosl em country touching a wonan’s
breast s?

It’s not appropriate, Your Honor.

Do you think that when soldiers do or have
| ear ned about what you’ve just told ne, do
you think they would have greater respect
for you or |ess respect for you?

Less respect for nme, Your Honor.

Do you believe that soldiers are required to
have respect for you in order for you to be
an effective | eader?

Yes, Your Honor.

Do you think ineffective |eadership destroys
di sci pline and noral e?

Yes, Your Honor, | do.

added.)
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The majority clains that this case is weaker than
| zqui erdo because appellant was in his private bedroom
whi ch all owed a greater expectation of privacy than a
shared barracks room Consequently, the majority concl udes
that appellant’s “responses and the stipulation of fact
state only the conclusion” that there was a substanti al
risk of discovery, and that is not enough to satisfy the
requi red factual predicate for “open and notorious.”
M at (7).

| disagree. |lzquierdo nmakes it clear that that is
exactly what is required. The facts show that it was
reasonably likely that the conduct woul d be viewed by
others for several reasons: (1) there was no | ock on the
door; (2) there were approxi mtely 30-40 people at the
party; (3) it was a small place; (4) purses were kept in
the room (5) the “special brew was kept in the room (6)
the video “Freak-N k” was playing in the room and (7) the
provi dency inquiry was sufficient (as was the agreed
stipulation of facts) to neet the standard set forth in RCM
910(e). See Vonn, ___ US. at __, 122 S.Ct. at 1052-53
(omssion fromguilty plea inquiry results in reversal of
conviction only when an appel |l ant denonstrates his
substantial rights were affected, e.g., no automatic

reversal when m stake conducting inquiry under

11
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Fed. R CrimP. 11 does not inpact on “the overarching issues
of know edge and vol untariness”); RCM 910(c).

The mlitary judge carefully covered every el enent of
the offense with appellant, took the tine to explain that
the standard was a “substantial risk,” and carefully placed
on the record exactly how substantial that risk was.

Appel lant admtted this risk at trial and should not be
allowed now to claimthat his plea was inprovident.

Accordingly, | dissent.
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